Filed 10-01-2024 Page 1 of 20

> **FILED** 10-01-2024 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS **DISTRICT IV**

City of Platteville Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

Appeal Nos. 2024AP001291 & 2024AP001292 Circuit Court Case Nos. 2024TR000215 & 2024TR000450

Travis Jon Knautz Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT ENTERED AUGUST 23, 2024, CIRCUIT COURT BRANCH 2, GRANT COUNTY, WISCONSIN, THE HONORABLE CRAIG R. DAY PRESIDING GRANT COUNTY CASE NOS. 2024-TR-215 & 2024-TR-450

### REPLACEMENT BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT CITY OF PLATTEVILLE

Benjamin R. Wood State Bar No. 1087827 Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellant

# **Statement of Issues**

1. Did City of Platteville Police Sergeant Matthew Froiseth have reasonable suspicion to commence a traffic stop on the Defendant-Respondent, Travis J. Knautz, when his vehicle was parked in a closed business at 11:50 pm in an area of the City of Platteville where other burglaries have occurred.

The circuit court answered: No.

# **Statement on Oral Argument and Publication**

Plaintiff-Appellant City of Platteville does not request oral argument on this appeal. The briefs should fully develop and respond to the issues, thus making oral argument unnecessary.

Plaintiff-Appellant City of Platteville further submits that a decision in this appeal will not meet the criteria for publication under Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a).

### **Statement of Facts and Case**

Plaintiff-Appellant City of Platteville ("City") requests this Court reverse the Order Suppressing Evidence from Traffic Stop entered on June 19, 2024, and the August 23, 2024, not guilty verdict based upon the lack of evidence due to the suppression of evidence in the Circuit Court, Branch 2, for Grant County, The Honorable Craig R. Day, presiding.

#### I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On Friday, January 26, 2024, at 11:50 p.m., the Defendant-Respondent, Travis J. Knautz's ("Knautz"), vehicle was parked in the Rosemeyer Chiropractic/Financial Office ("Rosemeyer Building") parking lot. (R. 14, p. 7, p. 12.; App. p. 7, p. 12). Knautz's vehicle was parked in a normal parking stall at the front of the building which faces onto Highway 151. *Id.* Knautz sat in the vehicle with one passenger and the vehicle was running with both headlights and taillights on. (R. 14, p. 8; App. p. 8). There were no lights on in the Rosemeyer Building and the building was closed. *Id.* 

At the same time, Sergeant Matthew Froiseth ("Froiseth"), a fourteen-year veteran with the City of Platteville Police Department, was working doing general patrol. (R. 14, p. 6; App. p. 6). Froiseth drove an unmarked

gray Ford Explorer with interior blue and red lights. *Id.* He approached and stopped at the stoplight at the intersection of East Mineral Street and Business 151. (R. 14, p. 7; App. p. 7). The Rosemeyer Building is two businesses to the east approximately two to three hundred yards from where Froiseth was stopped at the redlight. *Id.* Froiseth saw Knautz's vehicle parked at the Rosemeyer Building and thought it was suspicious that the vehicle was parked and running in that parking lot, given the time of night. *Id.* 

Based on Froiseth's suspicion he decided to investigate further. (R. 14, p. 8; App. p. 8). He stayed at the stoplight for about a minute as no traffic was behind him forcing him through the intersection. (R. 14, pp. 8-9; App. pp. 8-9). From the stoplight, he could see at least one person in the car that looked to be in the driver's seat moving around but could not tell what they were doing. (R. 14, p. 9; App. p. 9). He proceeded through the intersection and pulled into the U-Haul parking lot which is across the road from the Rosemeyer Building. *Id.* He wanted to park in the U-Haul parking lot to see if anybody was coming in or out of the Rosemeyer Building. *Id.* As he pulled into the U-Haul parking lot, Knautz

Filed 10-01-2024

backed his vehicle out of the parking spot of the Rosemeyer Building. (R. 14, pp. 9, 11; App. pp. 9, 11).

Knautz exited the Rosemeyer Building and headed east on Highway 151 towards Walmart. (R. 14, p. 11; App. p. 11). Froiseth proceeded behind Knautz and did not see any bad driving or any driving infractions. *Id.* Knautz attempted to exit Highway 151 via Exit 21 and Froiseth stopped the vehicle on the southbound exit ramp. *Id*. It is agreed the stop is the only contested issue and not the arrest. (R. 14, p. 15; App. p. 15).

As a fourteen-year veteran, Froiseth has investigated and followed up on burglaries and break-ins in the Platteville community. (R. 14, p. 9; App. p. 9). He had followed up or known about approximately twenty to thirty burglaries, thefts, or damages to property for businesses along Highway 151 since he has been an officer with the City. (R. 14, p. 10; App. p. 10).

#### II. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On Saturday, January 27, 2024, at 12:08 a.m., Froiseth issued Knautz a citation for a violation of Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence and Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration pursuant to City Ordinance

38.01 which adopts Wisconsin State Statute § 346.63(1)(a) and (b). (R. 1).

On February 29, 2024, Knautz filed a "Not Guilty" plea to both citations through his attorney. (R. 3).

On April 23, 2024, Knautz filed a Motion to Suppress. (R. 6).

On May 23, 2024, a suppression hearing was held in Grant County Circuit Court Branch II before the Honorable Craig R. Day. (R. 14, p. 1; App. p. 1). After testimony exclusively from Froiseth, the Honorable Craig R. Day, granted Kautz's motion to suppress the evidence. *Id*.

The circuit court granted the motion to suppress and stated:

"The motion is granted for this reason. To authorize this stop fundamentally, is to say that it is reasonable suspicion to be parked otherwise unsuspiciously. And it wouldn't take much to change the math on this. But it's critical that there was nothing suspicious about what the vehicle did or did not do. No movements outside of the vehicle in front with the lights on. To say that being parked otherwise unsuspiciously in a parking lot of a closed business at 11:50 is grounds to be stopped, and it is critical that this was not a voluntary contact. Mr. Knautz and his passenger had gone about their business and were stopped. I can't think that the law countenances that under the Fourth Amendment. It's as I say, it wouldn't have taken much by way of additional suspicious something to put this over the top. But I can't conclude in my own mind that if we park in a closed parking lot, we thereby subject ourselves to an investigatory stop. So the motion is granted."

(R. 14, pp. 31-32; App. pp. 31-32).

On June 19, 2024, the Honorable Craig R. Day, filed his written order formally granting the motion to suppress based on the finding contained in the record from the May 23, 2024, hearing. (R. 13, App. 37).

On June 28, 2024, the City filed Notices of Appeal. (R. 15).

On August 19, 2024, the Court of Appeals entered an Order questioning its jurisdiction over the appeals due to no final disposition of the circuit court cases. (R. 25). The Court of Appeals asked the City to provide a Memorandum to support its position as to why the appeal could move forward without final disposition, or in the alternative, asked the City to voluntarily dismiss its appeals. *Id*.

A court trial was held August 23, 2024. (R. 28, App. 38). Due to the court's order suppressing the evidence, Knautz was found not guilty. *Id*.

The City filed a Memorandum on August 26, 2024, requesting the appeals move forward due to the final disposition of the cases from the August 23, 2024, court trial.

On September 18, 2024, the Court of Appeals issued an Order allowing the appeals to proceed, provided the City file new, timely Notice of Appeals in the circuit court for each case. (R. 31). Further, the Court of Appeals consolidated the appeals for briefing and disposition purposes on its own motion. Lastly, the Court of Appeals required the City to file a replacement appellant's brief for the consolidated cases that explains the subsequent procedural history of the cases. *Id*.

On September 18, 2024, the City filed new Notices of Appeal in both circuit court cases. (R. 32). The City hereby files its replacement brief.

## **Argument**

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate court's review of a circuit court's ruling on a motion to suppress evidence is done by applying the clearly erroneous standard to the circuit court's findings of fact. *State v. Vorburger*, 2002 WI 105, ¶ 32, 255 Wis.2d 537, 648 N.W.2d 829. However, the appellate court reviews the circuit court's application of constitutional principles to the findings of fact de novo. *Id.* Further, appellate courts are not constrained to the circuit court's reasoning in affirming or denying its order; instead, an appellate court may affirm the circuit court's order on different grounds. *See Mercado v. GE Money Bank*, 2009 WI App 73, ¶ 2, 318 Wis.2d 216, 768 N.W.2d 53.

II. SERGEANT MATTHEW FROISETH HAD REASONABLE SUSPICION TO STOP TRAVIS J. KNAUTZ WHEN HIS VEHICLE WAS PARKED IN A CLOSED BUSINESS AT 11:50 PM ON A FRIDAY NIGHT IN AN AREA OF THE CITY OF PLATTEVILLE WHERE OTHER BURGLARIES HAVE OCCURRED

"A traffic stop is a form of seizure triggering Fourth Amendment protections from unreasonable searches and seizures." *State v. Gammons*, 2001 WI App 36, ¶ 6, 241 Wis.2d 296, 625 N.W.2d 623. For a traffic stop to comport with the Fourth Amendment, "[t]he police must have a reasonable suspicion, grounded in specific articulable facts and reasonable inferences from those facts, that an individual is violating the law." *Id.* "Determining whether there was reasonable suspicion requires [this court] to consider the totality of the circumstances." *State v. Allen*, 226 Wis.2d 66, 74, 593 N.W.2d 504 (Ct.App.1999).

In *State v. Washington*, 2005 WI App 123, ¶ 16, 284, Wis.2d 456, 700 N.W.2d 305, the court summarized the law of reasonable suspicion and investigative stops as follows:

Thus, the standard for a valid investigatory stop is less than that for an arrest; an investigatory stop requires only "reasonable suspicion." The reasonable suspicion standard requires the officer to have "a particularized and objective basis for suspecting the person stopped of criminal activity [,]"; reasonable suspicion cannot be based merely on an "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or 'hunch[.]' " When determining if the standard of reasonable suspicion was met, those facts known to the officer at

the time of the stop must be taken together with any rational inferences, and considered under the totality of the circumstances. Stated otherwise, to justify an investigatory stop, "[t]he police must have a reasonable suspicion, grounded in specific articulable facts and reasonable inferences from those facts, that an individual is [or was] violating the law." However, an officer is not required to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior before initiating a brief investigatory stop. (Citations omitted.)

The circuit court analyzed the three unpublished decisions on point for the analysis of the current issue. In all three unpublished decisions, the appellate court found the officer, under the set of facts present in the case, did have reasonable suspicion, and, therefore, concluded the stop was legal. We will take each case in turn and demonstrate how the facts and legal analysis in each are comparable to this case and provide a strong record of Froiseth's reasonable suspicion that criminal activity was afoot.

The court of appeals reviewed the issue of reasonable suspicion justifying an investigative stop of a defendant motorist in the 2010 unpublished case of *State of Wisconsin v. Scott W. Able*, No. 2009AP2777, unpublished op., (2010 WI App 71) (citable as persuasive authority per Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)) (App. 39). The facts and discussion at issue in *Able* are similar to the current case.

At 1:03 a.m. Officer Scott Hibler ("Hibler") of the Town of Brookfield Police Department was on routine patrol.

*Id.* at ¶ 6. While Hibler was stopped at a redlight, he saw Scott W. Able ("Able") go through the intersection in his SUV and enter the parking lot of Highlander Elite Fitness and Racquet Club ("Fitness Center"). *Id.* The Fitness Center was closed at this time. Id. at  $\P$  7. Able stopped his vehicle over four parking spots in the parking lot and turned off his headlights. *Id.* Hibler approached the vehicle because there had been burglaries to this Fitness Center and a sister fitness center. Before the officer could get to the vehicle, Able drove off and turned right onto Barker Road. *Id.* Hibler followed and eventually stopped Able citing no observed traffic or equipment violations. *Id.* at  $\P$  8, 10.

Able moved to suppress the evidence. *Id.* at  $\P$  2. Hibler was the only witness at the hearing. He testified that the reason he conducted the traffic stop of Able was due to the hour of night, combined with the fact the business was not open, and that he had knowledge of prior burglaries at the Fitness Center and other businesses around the area. *Id.* at ¶ 9.

The court of appeals found the time of day, the rarity of seeing a vehicle in the Fitness Center's parking lot after the business was closed and the previous burglaries as Hibler

having reasonable suspicious that criminal activity was afoot and upheld the traffic stop as valid. *Id.* at  $\P$  12.

The facts in *Able* are comparable to the facts of the current case. Both instances occurred around the midnight timeframe; both defendants were parked in a parking lot of a closed business; both law enforcement officers in each case had previous knowledge of burglaries in the area. There are no distinguishable facts from the current case besides the burglary of the Fitness Center. This factor alone does not change the analysis that Foiseth was able to give specific articulable facts that led to his reasonable suspicion just as Hilber did in *Able*.

Another court of appeals case on point is the 2011 unpublished case of State of Wisconsin v. Lisa K. Beckman, No. 2010AP2564, unpublished op., (2011 WI App 114) (citable as persuasive authority per Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)) (App. 44). The facts and discussion at issue in *Beckman* are similar to the current case.

At 11:40 p.m. Officer John Schubel ("Schubel") of the Village of Mukwonago Police Department was on routine patrol. *Id.* at ¶ 2. Schubel's attention was drawn to a vehicle stopped behind a closed business, Little Babe's, located on Main Street and Flood. *Id.* Little Babe's did not have lights on.

Id. Beckman's vehicle was parked in the southwest corner of the parking lot near the back door of Kay's Academy Dance, which was a business in the same building as Little Babe's. Id. After Schubel noticed the vehicle, it left the parking lot. Id. Schubel followed Beckham and did not see any traffic violations. Id. Schubel got behind Beckman and stopped her vehicle. Id.

Beckman moved to suppress the evidence. Id. at ¶ 1. Schubel was the only witness at the hearing, and he testified that the reason he conducted the traffic stop of Beckman was due to him being a community caretaker, and because there have been burglaries in the small business, so he was concerned that the vehicle was stopping at closed businesses and why. Id. at ¶ 3.

The court of appeals found the time of day, a vehicle parked at two different businesses parking lots after both businesses were closed, and the previous burglaries in the area having reasonable suspicion that criminal activity was afoot and upheld the traffic stop as valid. *Id.* at ¶ 12.

The facts in *Beckman* are comparable to the facts of the current case. Both instances occurred around the midnight timeframe; both defendants were parked in a parking lot of a closed business; and both law enforcement officers in each case had previous knowledge of burglaries in the area. There are no distinguishable facts from the current case.

One last court of appeals case on point is the 2012 unpublished case of *State of Wisconsin v. Diane C. Parker*, No. 2012AP245, unpublished op., (2012 WI App 97) (citable as persuasive authority per Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)) (App. 51). The facts and discussion at issue in *Parker* are also similar to the current case.

At 3:02 a.m. a sheriff's deputy was on routine patrol. *Id.* at  $\P$  3. The deputy saw Parker's car enter the parking lot of a closed tire repair shop. *Id.* The village at issue here only has two businesses, the tire repair shop and a gas station, and both were closed at this time. *Id.* The deputy did not see any traffic violations or unusual driving behavior by Parker. *Id.* at  $\P$  4. The deputy thought it was odd that a vehicle would pull into a tire repair shop at that time of night and went to further investigate. *Id.* at  $\P$  5. When the deputy went into the parking lot, he saw the vehicle Parker was driving was empty, and Parker was now in the driver's seat of a different vehicle. The door was open and no one else was around. *Id.* at  $\P$  6.

Parker moved to suppress the evidence. *Id.* at  $\P$  8.

The court of appeals found the time of day, a vehicle parked in a business parking lot after the business was closed, and the fact that only one person, Parker, was present when she switched vehicles was reasonable suspicion that criminal activity was afoot and upheld the traffic stop as valid. *Id.* at ¶ 14.

The facts in *Parker* are comparable to the facts of the current case. Both instances occurred around the midnight timeframe; both defendants were parked in a parking lot of a closed business. *Parker* is different in the fact that the defendant switched vehicles. However, the overall conclusions are the same. With all three cases present, the facts tip the scales that Froiseth had reasonable suspicion. He testified that it was unusual to see a vehicle at the Rosemeyer Building after hours. He testified that he was aware of twenty to thirty burglaries, or other related matters, in his fourteen years as a law enforcement officer in the City. The time of day on a Friday night was factored into his decision, as were the three cases used for persuasive authority above.

#### **Conclusion**

Froiseth had reasonable suspicion to stop Knautz in this case based on the totality of the circumstances known to

Froiseth at the time of the stop; the time of day, the businesses being closed, and the known burglaries and other issues in that area of the City, show the reasonable, articulable facts that criminal activity may have been afoot.

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse the circuit court's decision to suppress the evidence in this case.