Appeal Nos. 2024AP001291 &

Circuit Court Case Nos.

2024AP001292

2024TR000215 &

2024TR000450

Page 1 of 15

FILED 10-30-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

CITY OF PLATTEVILLE,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

TRAVIS JON KNAUTZ,

Defendant-Respondent.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Grant County, The Honorable Craig R. Day, Presiding

> Kopp McKichan, LLP Sheila Stuart Kelley State Bar No. 1018962 44 E. Main St. PO Box 253 Platteville, WI 53818 (608) 348-2615 SheilaK@kopplaw.net

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

ISSUE PRESENTED
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION4
STATEMENT OF FACTS4
STANDARD OF REVIEW
ARGUMENT
I. POLICE DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE SUSPICION TO
STOP THE CAR TRAVIS KNAUTZ WAS DRIVING BASED ON THE INFORMATION KNOWN TO THE OFFICER AT
THE TIME OF THE TRAFFIC STOP
CONCLUSION14
CERTIFICATION AS TO FORM/LENGTH15

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

County of Grant v. Vogt, 2014 WI 76, 356 Wis.2d 343, 850 N.W.2d 253.13, 14
State of Wisconsin v. Diane C. Parker, No. 2012AP245, unpublished op., (2012 WI App 97) (citable as persuasive authority per Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3))
State of Wisconsin v. Lisa K. Beckman, No. 2010AP2564, unpublished op., (2011 WI App 114) (citable as persuasive authority per Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3))
 State of Wisconsin v. Scott W. Able, No. 2009AP2777, unpublished op., (2010 WI App 71) (citable as persuasive authority per Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3))
State v. Allen, 226 Wis. 2d 66, 74, 593 N.W.2d 504 (Ct. App. 1999)7
<i>State v. Dubose</i> , 2005 WI 126 (2005)
<i>State v. Gammons</i> , 2001 WI App 36, ¶6, 241 Wis. 2d 296, 625 N.W.2d 623
State v. Gordon, 2014 WI App 44, ¶15, 353 Wis. 2d 468, 846 N.W.2d 48311
State v. VanBeek, 2021 WI 51, ¶52, 397 Wis.2d 311, 960 N.W.2d 3212
State v. Waldner, 206 Wis.2d 51, 57, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996)12
State v. Williams, 2001 WI 21, 241 Wis.2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106 (2001)6
State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, 717 N.W.2d 729 (2006)5, 12
State v. Young, 212 Wis. 2d 417, 424, 569 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1997)7
<i>Terry v. Ohio</i> , 392 U.S. 1, 13 (1968)7

Statutes

WISCONSIN STATS.	§ 968.24	7
------------------	----------	---

ISSUE PRESENTED

Does an officer have reasonable suspicion to perform a traffic stop on a vehicle that is parked in the parking lot of a business that is closed?

The circuit court answered "no."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither publication of this court's opinion nor oral argument is necessary in this case. The parties' briefs will adequately address the issues in this case and, therefore, oral argument will not assist the court. The court will likely decide the case based on controlling precedent, and the court will not have any reason to question, qualify, or distinguish that precedent. See § 809.23(1)(b)3.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Travis John Knautz was cited by the City of Platteville for an OMVI 1st following a traffic stop in the City on January 26, 2024. (R. 1) He filed a suppression motion, which the court heard on May 23, 2024. (R. 6) At that hearing, the City offered testimony by Sergeant Matthew Froiseth. The portions of Sergeant Froiseth's testimony, which are relevant here, are as follows:

4

Page 5 of 15

As Sergeant Froiseth was approaching the intersection of Mineral Street and Business Hwy 151 in Platteville, Grant County, Wisconsin, he noticed the Knautz vehicle parked in the Rosemeyer Jones Chiropractic parking lot with its lights on and facing the building. (R. 14, p. 7) Sergeant Froiseth remained at the intersection even the though the light had turned green to observe the vehicle. (R. 14, p. 9). Sergeant Froiseth, rather than driving to the parking lot of the Rosemeyer Jones Chiropractic building instead drove through the intersection across Business Highway 151 and entered the parking lot of the U-Haul store, turning off his lights and parking behind some of the rental vehicles. (R. 14, p. 17) He continued to observe the Knautz vehicle and acknowledges that it was unlikely due to the distance and the fact that his lights were off that anyone in the vehicle would have seen him. Once the vehicle left the parking lot of the Rosemeyer Jones building and proceeded onto Business Highway 151 South, he followed it for a period of time until it entered onto the ramp for State Highway 151 where he pulled the vehicle over. Sergeant Froiseth acknowledged that the Business Highway 151 corridor is a fairly busy thorough fare in the City of Platteville. He further acknowledged that there is a rear parking lot to the building which would not be visible to Business Highway 151.

We should note it was January 26, 2024, a Friday night at 11:50 p.m. when Sergeant Froiseth first noticed the Knautz vehicle. Sergeant

5

Page 6 of 15

Froiseth's vehicle was unmarked and did not have a light bar on top of the vehicle. As of January 26, 2024 when the traffic stop was made, Sergeant Froiseth testified that he was aware of the burglaries which had occurred over the last thirteen years; however, he had to go back to research to make a list prior to his testimony. (R.14, p. 23)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether reasonable suspicion existed for an investigatory stop is a question of constitutional fact, to which a two-part standard of review applies. *State v. Williams*, 2001 WI 21, 241 Wis.2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106 (2001). In reviewing a motion to suppress, the appeal court will uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless clearly erroneous. Whether those facts constitute reasonable suspicion is a question of law independently decided by the appeal court. *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, 717 N.W.2d 729 (2006) and *State v. Dubose*, 2005 WI 126.

ARGUMENT

I. POLICE DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE SUSPICION TO STOP THE CAR TRAVIS KNAUTZ WAS DRIVING BASED ON THE INFORMATION KNOWN TO THE OFFICER AT THE TIME OF THE TRAFFIC STOP.

"A traffic stop is a form of seizure triggering Fourth Amendment protections from unreasonable searches and seizures." *State v. Gammons*,

2001 WI App 36, ¶6, 241 Wis. 2d 296, 625 N.W.2d 623. For a traffic stop to comport with the Fourth Amendment, "[t]he police must have a reasonable suspicion, grounded in specific articulable facts and reasonable inferences from those facts, that an individual is violating the law." Id. "Determining whether there was reasonable suspicion requires [this court] to consider the totality of the circumstances." State v. Allen, 226 Wis. 2d 66, 74, 593 N.W.2d 504 (Ct. App. 1999). WISCONSIN STAT. § 968.24, which codifies Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 13 (1968) permits a police officer to temporarily detain and question a person in a public place when the officer reasonably suspects that the person is committing or is about to commit an offense. "The question of what constitutes reasonable suspicion is a common sense test: under all the facts and circumstances present, what would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience." State v. Young, 212 Wis. 2d 417, 424, 569 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1997).

The officer here lacked reasonable suspicion to seize Knautz. The circumstances on January 26, 2024 observed by the officer are insufficient to establish a reasonable belief that Knautz was engaged in criminal activity. At the motion hearing, Officer Froiseth identified three things that made him suspicious enough to stop Knautz's vehicle. The first was a vehicle being parked in the parking lot of a closed business late at night. (R14:12; A-App.14). The second was that the officer thought that Knautz

backed out of the parking space and left the business parking lot because he may have seen the officer's patrol vehicle. Id. The third was the history of burglaries in that area. Id.

In its brief the City points to three unpublished cases as persuasive authority that an officer may seize a driver who is located in the parking lot of a closed business, *State of Wisconsin v. Scott W. Able*, No. 2009AP2777, unpublished op., (2010 WI App 71) (citable as persuasive authority per Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)), *State of Wisconsin v. Lisa K. Beckman*, No. 2010AP2564, unpublished op., (2011 WI App 114) (citable as persuasive authority per Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)), and *State of Wisconsin v. Diane C. Parker*, No. 2012AP245, unpublished op., (2012 WI App 97) (citable as persuasive authority per Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)). (Brief of Appellant, 12-17). All three of these unpublished cases were addressed and distinguished properly by the trial court in its oral decision. (R14:28-29; A-App. 30-31).

These three unpublished cases involved at least one additional factor that supplied additional reasonable suspicion, which is not present in the current case. This was acknowledged and explained by the trial court in its correct analysis of reasonable suspicion. (R14:31; A-App.33). In *State v. Parker*, the officer observed a vehicle pull into a parking lot after hours of business and then the driver exited the vehicle and then get into a different vehicle. No. 2012AP245, unpublished op., (2012 WI App

Page 9 of 15

97) (citable as persuasive authority per Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)) (A-App. 50). The court identified this fact as sufficient to transform what may have only been a hunch in to reasonable suspicion. *Id.* at ¶ 14. In its brief the City acknowledges this difference from the current case but does not explain why this fact is not essential to the determination of reasonable suspicion. (Brief of Appellant, 17). Instead the City simply states that "the overall conclusions are the same" even without that fact or a similar additional fact present in Knautz's case. Id.

In another unpublished decision of State v. Able, there was reasonable suspicion for a stop when an officer observed a vehicle drive into a closed business lot and park over several spaces and turn its lights off and then the vehicle drove through the lot with its lights off. No. 2009AP2777-CR, unpublished op., (2010 WI App 71) (citable as persuasive authority per Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)) (A-App. 38). In Able, the business was a fitness center, which had victims of a series of burglaries at their sister location. *Id.* at ¶7. The City of Brookfield Police Department was actively investigating this string of burglaries at the time Able was stopped. Id. The City of Platteville believes that this business actually being a victim of several burglaries at its sister locations subject to an ongoing investigation by the local police is the same as the burglary history that was presented in the current case. (Brief of Appellant, 14). At the motion hearing, the City did not identify any specific type of

businesses that were victims of the burglaries that Officer Froiseth was familiar with. Instead, the officer agreed that he had investigated 20 to 30 burglaries of businesses over a 14-year period along the Business 151 corridor, which is a couple miles long through Platteville. (R14:10, 22; A-App. 12, 24). There was no mention of an active investigation into similar burglaries or any reason for heightened suspicion for this type of circumstance. The officer was not aware that this particular business had ever been burglarized. (R14:12; A-App. 14). There is obviously a big difference between the ongoing investigation into burglaries at other businesses conducting the same type of business and being owned by the company, which was the case in Able, and an officer who was aware of other burglaries, which were not necessarily recent, or in a similar location or a similar type of business. Able had also parked awkwardly and turned his headlights off, which are additional suspicious activities not present in Knautz's case. *State v. Able*, at ¶ 7, (R14:18-19; A-App. 20-21).

In another unpublished case, *State v. Beckman*, there was reasonable suspicion to initiate a seizure when a driver at 11:40 pm on a Sunday drove into the parking lots of two different closed businesses. No. 2010AP2564-CR, unpublished op., (2011 WI App. 114) (citable as persuasive authority per Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)) (A-App. 43). These other factors are not present in this case. Knautz's vehicle had its lights on, no one was observed outside the vehicle, and his activity was restricted to

one parking lot. Knautz was also parked in front of the building near a busy road, which is less suspicious than the conduct in these other cases.

The other factor suggested by the officer to establish reasonable suspicion was the fact that he was aware of burglaries in the area. The trial court appeared reluctant to call this area a high crime area, but was willing to refer to it as an area that merits attention. (R14:31; A-App. 33). Even if this area were actually a high crime area, an individual's presence in a high-crime area standing alone is insufficient to give rise to reasonable suspicion. See State v. Gordon, 2014 WI App 44, ¶15, 353 Wis. 2d 468, 846 N.W.2d 483. The State cannot justify a warrantless search or seizure with nothing more than a recitation that the person was in a "high-crime" area. Additionally, this factor was underdeveloped at the motion hearing. The officer suggested that he was aware of some 20-30 burglaries, which took place on this road in the 14 years that he worked as a Platteville Police Officer. (R14:10; A-App. 12). However, the relevance of relying on this information is questionable since it amounts to about 1 or 2 burglaries per year and there is little to suggest a connection between the burglaries that Officer Froiseth was aware of and potentially suspicious activity at the Rosemeyer building parking lot after business hours. None of these burglaries referenced by Officer Froiseth took place at the Rosemeyer building. (R14:12; A-App. 14). The area described by Officer Froiseth included several miles of the main road through Platteville. (R14:22; A-

App. 24).

"Reasonable suspicion requires that a police officer possess specific and articulable facts that warrant a reasonable belief that criminal activity is afoot." *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98 ¶21, 294 Wis.2d 1. This is "an objective test that examines the totality of circumstances." *State v. VanBeek*, 2021 WI 51, ¶52, 397 Wis.2d 311, 960 N.W.2d 32. "A mere hunch that a person has been, is, or will be involved in criminal activity is insufficient" to establish reasonable suspicion. *Young*, 294 Wis.2d 1, ¶21. While it is true that conduct, which may have an innocent explanation, may also give rise to a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity, the inference of unlawful conduct must be reasonable. See *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis.2d 51, 57, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996).

In the trial court's oral ruling, the judge found the speculation that Knautz was attempting to evade Officer Froiseth to not be well-founded. (R14:30; A-App. 32). The trial court reasoned that it was unlikely that Knautz would have seen Officer Froiseth's vehicle. Id. The officer's vehicle had its headlights off, was an unmarked patrol vehicle, and Knautz was parked across several lanes of traffic facing the opposite direction. *Id*. See also (R. 10). The trial court's determination that Knautz was not leaving the lot to evade the officer's observation cannot be said to be clearly erroneous. It is based on the officer's testimony and applying common sense to the facts presented. This determination eliminates one

of the officer's stated reasons justifying the seizure of Knautz.

A decision that an officer does not have reasonable suspicion to seize a driver simply because they are located in the parking lot of a closed business does not require that an officer ignore their hunch that something is odd or unusual. An officer in the position of Officer Froiseth would still be free to initiate voluntary contact with the driver and their vehicle. What that officer may potentially observe while engaging in voluntary contact based on their hunch that something is off could provide reasonable suspicion to execute a seizure and investigate further. At that point this would be a situation on point with County of Grant v. Vogt, 2014 WI 76, 356 Wis.2d 343, 850 N.W.2d 253. That case has similar facts with a deputy making contact with a car that pulled into the parking lot next to a closed park and boat landing on the Mississippi. The deputy did not observe any traffic violations but thought the driver's conduct was suspicious. Id. at \P 4. That case eventually turned on the issue of whether the driver was seized by the officer and the Wisconsin Supreme Court found that the deputy's initial actions were not a seizure and he was permitted to contact the driver to learn more about a potentially suspicious situation. Id. at \P 51. In that case, the parties agreed that the deputy would not have had reasonable suspicion to seize the driver after observing the driver pull into the parking lot of a closed park and boat landing. Id. at 39. The court was in agreement that the deputy did not have reasonable suspicion to seize the driver initially. *Id.* at \P 29. The court ultimately decided in favor of the County in that case, but had the driver initially been seized based on the fact that his car was in the parking lot of a closed park and boat landing, it would have been decided differently. *Id.* Officer Froiseth could have engaged in voluntary contact as was acknowledged by the trial court when it stated "...it is critical that this was not a voluntary contact." (R14:32; A-App. 34). Law enforcement in this situation could have engaged in voluntary contact or further observation to establish probable cause if there was actually some criminal activity afoot.

CONCLUSION

Based on the totality of the circumstances, the officer's decision to perform a traffic stop on Knautz's vehicle was based only on a hunch and not reasonable suspicion. A reasonable officer would not have believed that it was reasonable to conclude that Knautz was involved with criminal activity.

This Court should affirm the trial court's decision to suppress the traffic stop and all evidence obtained as a result of the unreasonable seizure.